
 

 

125 South 6th Street, Suite 200      Louisville, KY 40202      502.325.0100      kpff.com     

March 25, 2021 

 

 

RE: Crystal Beach Renovation – Addendum #1 

 

Dear Bidders, 

 

This serves to announce that most bidder questions received to this point have been answered in 

Addendum #1, now available on the Lynn Imaging website. We do anticipate a second Addendum, 

released on Tuesday March 30th. 

 

Additionally, the site will be open from 10:00am – 11:00am on Friday, March 26th for additional access 

by general contractors or subcontractors. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Aaron Daley, PE 

Associate  



QUESTION NO. QUESTION ANSWER
RELATED 

DISCIPLINE

53
Can you please provide specs for sections 088000 

glazing?
See attached section 088000 FL - GLAZING ARCHITECTURAL

54
Can you please provide specs 084113 aluminum-framed 

entrances and storefronts?

See attached section 084113 FL - ALUMINUM FRAMED 

ENTRANCES AND STOREFRONTS
ARCHITECTURAL

32

Doors 210a and 210b are not on the door schedule.  

Please clarify if these are existing to remain, etc.  

Anything to be done with these?

Doors 210a and 210b do not exist. ARCHITECTURAL

33

There is a spec on Terrazzo Flooring.  Where is terrazzo 

required?  Is this the “epoxy coat” called for in the finish 

schedule for Rm 106?  If not, please advise if terrazzo is 

required anywhere and please provide a spec on the 

“epoxy coat” that is required in 106.

"Epoxy Coat" noted in the schedule refers to Resinous 

Matrix Terrazzo Flooring as per section 096623.  Apply 

this floor finish as per section 096623 where noted to 

receive "Epoxy Coat"

ARCHITECTURAL

35

There is a spec for Exterior Expansion Joint Covers. I 

don’t see any details of conditions in which these are to 

be used.  Please clarify, identify and detail.

Exterior expansion joint to be part of expansion joint 

assembly noted on 4/A502. Detailed such that the joint 

cover is partially concealed by curtainwall trim. 

ARCHITECTURAL

40

Can you please provide spec sections 088000 glazing 

and 084113 aluminum-framed entrances and 

storefronts?

See attached sections. ARCHITECTURAL

55

We respectfully submit for your consideration a request 

to approve products as an accepted substitute on 

Crystal Beach Pool and Pool House Renovation (21-

516471); please find substitution request form attached.

Scranton Products is an acceptable manufacturer for 

metal lockers and plastic toilet partitions provided they 

meet all requirements of the drawings and 

specifications.

ARCHITECTURAL

CRYSTAL BEACH PRE-BID MEETING QUESTIONS

DATE: 3/18/2021

Page 1 of 7



56 What type of base are the lockers supposed to have?
Per section 105113 par. 2.3.C, lockers to be mounted on 

concrete base.
ARCHITECTURAL

57
Are there any ADA lockers? If so, how many per locker 

room?
Yes, provide 2 ADA accessible lockers per Locker Room. ARCHITECTURAL

58
Is there a preference on the type of steel for the 

lockers? Cold-rolled vs metallic-coated? 

Either are acceptable, provided they meet the other 

requirements of the specifications.
ARCHITECTURAL

7
What are the contractor requirements? Is there a 

Bidder's Checklist?

This information should be outlined in the specs. There 

should be a Form 96 and a prequalification form to go 

with it. 

BID REQUIREMENTS

22

Bid date/time - Is it possible to move the bid date and 

or time?  Normally bid times are 2 or 3PM. With morning 

bids there is often confusion from suppliers and 

subcontractors and bids end up coming in late.  If this is 

a Madison standard and must stay, I understand.  Just 

making a suggestion based on previous experience, if 

the time CAN be changed.  Also, the project bidding in 

the morning, on a Monday, the Monday after a holiday 

weekend may also result in lower bid submittals by subs 

and suppliers.  I think the owner would be better served 

by more bid participation if the bid date/time is moved.

The bid date and time is set as defined in the 

specifications
BID REQUIREMENTS
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23

Allowances - You mentioned at the meeting yesterday 

that the second allowance was to address the wall that 

is mentioned on S2.0 to be a design build replacement.  

The allowance refers to stone repair.  This doesn’t seem 

to apply to this as this wall is not being repaired but 

replaced and is concrete, not stone.  I think an 

allowance IS the way to handle that scope, but it does 

not seem to be addressed that way in documents.  S2.0 

actually states that it is an Alternate.  There are no 

alternates listed in the specs or on the bid form.  I think 

an Alternate would not be a great way to cover this. 

Additionally, the $5000 allowance #2 will not cover the 

cost of replacing that wall.  Finally, on that same 

area...Walking the stairs yesterday, they seemed quite 

deteriorated and somewhat hazardous.  Will those be 

addressed?

The curved wall at the top of S2.0 is concrete. The word 

"ALTERNATE" should be replaced with "ALLOWANCE". At 

this time, the stairs are not being addressed as the 

basement area will remain locked to the public and the 

budget is focused on public areas and structural repairs.

BID REQUIREMENTS

24

Unit Prices - There is mention on S2.0 that a unit price 

should be submitted for epoxy crack injection.  There is 

no unit price form with the bid forms.  There is section 

012200 that has a list.  At this point it would be my 

understanding that we submit THAT page from the 

specs with our bid.  There is no unit price item on 

012200-2 for epoxy crack injection.

Unit price for epoxy injection should be added to this 

form.
BID REQUIREMENTS

27

Can you please clarify that bids can be submitted 

EITHER in person at City Hall (Hard Copy) OR online 

through Lynn Imaging?  Either/OR, not AND.  Correct?

Yes, this is correct. Either is fine, it is not required to do 

both.
BID REQUIREMENTS

36
What is the budget/estimate for project? The upward bound estimation for the project is $2 

million. 
BID REQUIREMENTS

1 What is the time acceptance for the bids?
Approximately 60 days after the bids are issued or 4-5 

weeks before the preconstruction meeting.
BIDDING PROCESS

3 Is a bid bond required? How do contractors submit if so?
Yes it is required. This can be submitted through a check 

with the physical bond or online through Lynn Imaging.
BIDDING PROCESS
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21 List of plan holders for Crystal Beach.
All plan holders can be viewed in the “Plan Holders” tab 

on the project page of Lynn Imaging’s website.
BIDDING PROCESS

14 Is there a cleaning requirement for the basement? No, not beyond the typical house keeping required. BIDDING PROCESS

19
Stone and dirt next to the basement wall to remain? If 

this is removed, how will it be accessed?

Yes. There is a possible light well access. More 

possibilities can be considered. 
BIDDING PROCESS

37 Have any addendums been issued for the plans? Addendum 1 serves to answer bidder questions. BIDDING PROCESS

38
What is the time frame for construction or completion 

date required?

Completion date and schedule is outlined in the 

specifications.
BIDDING PROCESS

17 Is there electricity access for the electric pool lift?
The only new electricity run goes to the concession 

stand.

CONTRACT 

REQUIREMENTS

2 When does the pool close? Around Labor Day. POOL

34

Are special inspections and materials testing, to be 

provided by contractor or will owner be hiring someone 

for those services?

Special Inspections are not required, but contractor will 

be expected to hire a testing company for concrete and 

masonry materials testing.

PROJECT TIMELINE

6

Will there be access to the Crystal Beach site after the 

meeting (03-18-2021)? Or will there be another time 

after today (03-18-2021) to access the site?

Yes, Nicole will put together dates and times that it will 

be accessible and will let everyone know.  
SITE CONSTRAINTS
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30

In the basement there is an abundance of piled 

dirt/rock/stone that is in the basement area (outside of 

retaining wall) outside of crawl space.  Are we to do 

anything with that?  

Yes. There is a possible light well access. More 

possibilities can be considered. 
SITE CONSTRAINTS

31

The basement slab is covered in accumulated mud.  Is it 

acceptable that this be left in this condition at project 

completion or are we required to address this?

Cleaning not required beyond general house keeping 

requirements. 
SITE CONSTRAINTS

5
Where will site set up be located? Will the contractors 

need clearance to set up?

Crystal Beach will be easier to access when the pool 

closes. Possible to set up by Broadway. Trailers can be 

accommodated. 

SITE CONSTRAINTS

9 Access for construction?

There is a 14 ft gated entrance on the site by the pool. 

There is a culvert in this entrance that may need to be 

accommodated. 

SITE CONSTRAINTS

15 Will there be access to main power? This can be provided. SITE CONSTRAINTS

8
Where is the location for the micro piles and elevator 

shaft?

This information was shown to the individual at the site. 

Note: The micro piles and elevator shaft are not on the 

interior of the existing building. They are part of an 

addition. Please refer to the drawings for more 

information on the location of the micro piles and 

elevator shaft. 

STRUCTURAL

10 Load required for the piles?
This information can be found on the deep foundation 

notes on the drawings. 
STRUCTURAL

11
What is being replaced in the basement related to the 

wall and stone columns?

The stone columns are to remain but the wall between 

the columns will be replaced.
STRUCTURAL
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12 How deep will the elevator be placed?
Approximately 4 ft below grade. Please refer to plans for 

more information. 
STRUCTURAL

29

In the basement.  The existing stone retaining wall that 

is called for to be replaced-  There are stone columns 

that support a beam that are laid IN with that wall.  This 

is not addressed at all on the drawings.  Are we to 

sawcut the stone wall on either side of the columns and 

leave the remaining stone columns?  Are we to pour the 

concrete wall TO the stone columns?  It appears if that 

stone wall is saw cut the integrity of the stone in that 

column alone is questionable.  Please provide clearer 

instruction/details, etc.

Contractor should support the floor above during 

construction and replace stone columns between floor an 

top of retaining wall in-kind.

STRUCTURAL

39

Is the installer to design the micro piles?

If so, what are the loads? (compression, tension and 

lateral) If not, please provide lengths to bid for the 

micro piles.

Load requirement information can be found on the deep 

foundation notes on the drawings. 
STRUCTURAL

51 What size are the joists on the 2nd floor?
The existing joists are approximately 10" deep. Field 

verify.
STRUCTURAL

52 What is the height of the roof deck?
Roof bearing for new portion is given on plans. Field 

verify existing roof heights.
STRUCTURAL
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18
Repairs for the slab at the center - Is the just for the 

location shown on plan?

There are two or three spots in the center area that will 

need to be repaired. Other areas are shown on plan. 
STRUCTURAL

20
Are you open to value engineering foundations to helical 

piers?

Yes. You may include that as an alternate item in the bid 

documents.
STRUCTURAL

13 Ceiling coating?
Yes, the ceiling coating will be part of the concrete form 

work. 
STRUCTURAL

16 Restroom location and renovation clarification?
The restroom floors will be sloped, per the drawings, to 

match the elevation of the slab at the pool.
STRUCTURAL

26

There are no specs for Micro piles, Precast (Beams), 

Fencing, Window restorations.  Can specs be issued on 

these items?

See attached Information. STRUCTURAL
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DEEP FOUNDATION NOTES:
THE FOUNDATION SYSTEM FOR THE NEW CMU STAIR SHAFT CONSISTS OF
SHALLOW GRADE BEAMS SUPPORTED BY MICROPILES OR HELICAL STEEL
PILES DESIGNED BY OTHERS. DEEPENED FOUNDATIONS SHALL HAVE AN
ALLOWABLE SERVICE LOAD CAPACITY OF:

COMPRESSION: 60 KIPS
TENSION: 10 KIPS

HELICAL STEEL PILES SHALL BE DESIGNED AND INSTALLED BY A
SPECIALTY CONTRACTOR. A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER LICENSED IN THE
STATE OF KENTUCKY SHALL DESIGN THE HELICAL STEEL PILES AND
CONNECTIONS FOR THE SERVICE LOADS INDICATED ABOVE AND SHALL
PROVIDE SEALED CALCULATIONS, REVIEW THE SHOP DRAWINGS, AND
CONFIRM THAT THE INFORMATION SHOWN IS IN CONFORMANCE WITH
THE DESIGN.
TESTING: THE SPECIALTY CONTRACTOR SHALL CONDUCT A MINIMUM OF
ONE LOAD TEST FOR EACH CLASS OF PILES TO CONFIRM PILE CAPACITY
AND DEMONSTRATE A MINIMUM FACTOR OF SAFETY OF 2 BEFORE
INSTALLATION OF PRODUCTION PILES. INSTALLATION OF PRODUCTION
PILES MUST BE CONSISTENT WITH TEST PILE INSTALLATION.

1.

2.

3.

SK1
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SECTION 084113 - ALUMINUM-FRAMED ENTRANCES AND STOREFRONTS 

PART 1 - GENERAL 

1.1 RELATED DOCUMENTS 

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and Supplementary 
Conditions and Division 01 Specification Sections, apply to this Section. 

1.2 SUMMARY 

A. Section Includes: 

 
1.  Exterior and interior manual-swing entrance doors. 

1.3 PREINSTALLATION MEETINGS 

A. Preinstallation Conference: Conduct conference at Project site. 

1.4 ACTION SUBMITTALS 

A. Product Data: For each type of product. 

1. Include construction details, material descriptions, dimensions of individual components 
and profiles, and finishes. 

B. Shop Drawings: For aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts. Include plans, elevations, 
sections, full-size details, and attachments to other work. 

1. Include details of provisions for assembly expansion and contraction and for draining 
moisture occurring within the assembly to the exterior. 

2. Include full-size isometric details of each vertical-to-horizontal intersection of aluminum-
framed entrances and storefronts, showing the following: 

a. Joinery, including concealed welds. 
b. Anchorage. 
c. Expansion provisions. 
d. Glazing. 
e. Flashing and drainage. 

3. Show connection to and continuity with adjacent thermal, weather, air, and vapor 
barriers. 

C. Samples for Initial Selection: For units with factory-applied color finishes. 

D. Samples for Verification: For each type of exposed finish required, in manufacturer's standard 
sizes. 
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E. Fabrication Sample: Of each vertical-to-horizontal intersection of assemblies, made from 12-
inch lengths of full-size components and showing details of the following: 

1. Joinery, including concealed welds. 
2. Anchorage. 
3. Expansion provisions. 
4. Glazing. 
5. Flashing and drainage. 

F. Entrance Door Hardware Schedule: Prepared by or under supervision of supplier, detailing 
fabrication and assembly of entrance door hardware, as well as procedures and diagrams. 
Coordinate final entrance door hardware schedule with doors, frames, and related work to 
ensure proper size, thickness, hand, function, and finish of entrance door hardware. 

1.5 INFORMATIONAL SUBMITTALS 

A. Qualification Data: For Installer. 

B. Energy Performance Certificates: For aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts, accessories, 
and components, from manufacturer. 

1. Basis for Certification: NFRC-certified energy performance values for each aluminum-
framed entrance and storefront. 

C. Product Test Reports: For aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts, for tests performed by a 
qualified testing agency. 

D. Quality-Control Program: Developed specifically for Project, including fabrication and 
installation, according to recommendations in ASTM C 1401. Include periodic quality-control 
reports. 

E. Source quality-control reports. 

F. Field quality-control reports. 

G. Sample Warranties: For special warranties. 

1.6 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS 

A. Maintenance Data: For aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts to include in maintenance 
manuals. 

1.7 QUALITY ASSURANCE 

A. Installer Qualifications: An entity that employs installers and supervisors who are trained and 
approved by manufacturer. 

B. Product Options: Information on Drawings and in Specifications establishes requirements for 
aesthetic effects and performance characteristics of assemblies. Aesthetic effects are indicated 
by dimensions, arrangements, alignment, and profiles of components and assemblies as they 
relate to sightlines, to one another, and to adjoining construction. 
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1. Do not change intended aesthetic effects, as judged solely by Architect, except with 
Architect's approval. If changes are proposed, submit comprehensive explanatory data to 
Architect for review. 

1.8 WARRANTY 

A. Special Warranty:  Manufacturer agrees to repair or replace components of aluminum-framed 
entrances and storefronts that do not comply with requirements or that fail in materials or 
workmanship within specified warranty period. 

1. Failures include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Structural failures including, but not limited to, excessive deflection. 
b. Noise or vibration created by wind and thermal and structural movements. 
c. Deterioration of metals, metal finishes, and other materials beyond normal 

weathering. 
d. Water penetration through fixed glazing and framing areas. 
e. Failure of operating components. 

2. Warranty Period:  Two years from date of Substantial Completion. 

B. Special Finish Warranty: Standard form in which manufacturer agrees to repair finishes or 
replace aluminum that shows evidence of deterioration of factory-applied finishes within 
specified warranty period. 

1. Deterioration includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

a. Color fading more than 5 Hunter units when tested according to ASTM D 2244. 
b. Chalking in excess of a No. 8 rating when tested according to ASTM D 4214. 
c. Cracking, checking, peeling, or failure of paint to adhere to bare metal. 

2. Warranty Period:  20 years from date of Substantial Completion. 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS 

2.1 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

A. Delegated Design: Engage a qualified professional engineer, as defined in Section 014000 
"Quality Requirements," to design aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts. 

B. General Performance: Comply with performance requirements specified, as determined by 
testing of aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts representing those indicated for this 
Project without failure due to defective manufacture, fabrication, installation, or other defects in 
construction. 

1. Aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts shall withstand movements of supporting 
structure including, but not limited to, story drift, twist, column shortening, long-term 
creep, and deflection from uniformly distributed and concentrated live loads. 

2. Failure also includes the following: 

a. Thermal stresses transferring to building structure. 
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b. Glass breakage. 
c. Noise or vibration created by wind and thermal and structural movements. 
d. Loosening or weakening of fasteners, attachments, and other components. 
e. Failure of operating units. 

C. Structural Loads: 

1. Wind Loads: As indicated on Drawings. 
2. Other Design Loads:  As indicated on Drawings. 

D. Deflection of Framing Members: At design wind pressure, as follows: 

1. Deflection Normal to Wall Plane: Limited to edge of glass in a direction perpendicular to 
glass plane not exceeding 1/175 of the glass edge length for each individual glazing lite 
or an amount that restricts edge deflection of individual glazing lites to 3/4 inch, 
whichever is less. 

2. Deflection Parallel to Glazing Plane: Limited to amount not exceeding that which reduces 
glazing bite to less than 75 percent of design dimension and that which reduces edge 
clearance between framing members and glazing or other fixed components to less than 
1/8 inch. 

a. Operable Units: Provide a minimum 1/16-inch clearance between framing 
members and operable units. 

3. Cantilever Deflection: Where framing members overhang an anchor point, as follows: 

a. Perpendicular to Plane of Wall: No greater than 1/240 of clear span plus 1/4 inch 
for spans greater than 11 feet 8-1/4 inches or 1/175 times span, for spans less 
than 11 feet 8-1/4 inches. 

E. Structural: Test according to ASTM E 330 as follows: 

1. When tested at positive and negative wind-load design pressures, assemblies do not 
evidence deflection exceeding specified limits. 

2. When tested at 150 percent of positive and negative wind-load design pressures, 
assemblies, including anchorage, do not evidence material failures, structural distress, or 
permanent deformation of main framing members exceeding 0.2 percent of span. 

3. Test Durations: As required by design wind velocity, but not less than 10 seconds. 

F. Air Infiltration: Test according to ASTM E 283 for infiltration as follows: 

1. Entrance Doors: 

a. Pair of Doors: Maximum air leakage of 1.0 cfm/sq. ft. at a static-air-pressure 
differential of 1.57 lbf/sq. ft.. 

b. Single Doors: Maximum air leakage of 0.5 cfm/sq. ft. at a static-air-pressure 
differential of 1.57 lbf/sq. ft.. 

G. Water Penetration under Static Pressure: Test according to ASTM E 331 as follows: 

1. No evidence of water penetration through fixed glazing and framing areas when tested 
according to a minimum static-air-pressure differential of 20 percent of positive wind-load 
design pressure, but not less than 6.24 lbf/sq. ft. 
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H. Water Penetration under Dynamic Pressure: Test according to AAMA 501.1 as follows: 

1. No evidence of water penetration through fixed glazing and framing areas when tested at 
dynamic pressure equal to 20 percent of positive wind-load design pressure, but not less 
than 6.24 lbf/sq. ft. 

2. Maximum Water Leakage:  According to AAMA 501.1. Water leakage does not include 
water controlled by flashing and gutters, or water that is drained to exterior. 

I. Interstory Drift: Accommodate design displacement of adjacent stories indicated. 

1. Design Displacement:  As indicated on Drawings. 
2. Test Performance: Complying with criteria for passing based on building occupancy type 

when tested according to AAMA 501.4 at design displacement and 1.5 times the design 
displacement. 

J. Seismic Performance: Aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts shall withstand the effects of 
earthquake motions determined according to ASCE/SEI 7. 

1. Seismic Drift Causing Glass Fallout: Complying with criteria for passing based on building 
occupancy type when tested according to AAMA 501.6 at design displacement and 1.5 
times the design displacement. 

2. Vertical Interstory Movement: Complying with criteria for passing based on building 
occupancy type when tested according to AAMA 501.7 at design displacement and 1.5 
times the design displacement. 

K. Energy Performance: Certify and label energy performance according to NFRC as follows: 

1. Thermal Transmittance (U-factor): Fixed glazing and framing areas shall have U-factor of 
not more than 0.38 Btu/sq. ft. x h x deg F as determined according to NFRC 100. 

2. Solar Heat Gain Coefficient: Fixed glazing and framing areas shall have a solar heat gain 
coefficient of no greater than 0.35 as determined according to NFRC 200. 

3. Condensation Resistance: Fixed glazing and framing areas shall have an NFRC-certified 
condensation resistance rating of no less than 74 (frame) as determined according to 
NFRC 500. 

L. Noise Reduction: Test according to ASTM E 90, with ratings determined by ASTM E 1332, as 
follows. 

1. Outdoor-Indoor Transmission Class: Minimum 37 STC. 

M. Thermal Movements: Allow for thermal movements resulting from ambient and surface 
temperature changes: 

1. Temperature Change: 120 deg F, ambient; 180 deg F, material surfaces. 
2. Thermal Cycling: No buckling; stress on glass; sealant failure; excess stress on framing, 

anchors, and fasteners; or reduction of performance when tested according to 
AAMA 501.5. 

a. High Exterior Ambient-Air Temperature: That which produces an exterior metal-
surface temperature of 180 deg F. 

b. Low Exterior Ambient-Air Temperature:  0 deg F. 
c. Interior Ambient-Air Temperature:  75 deg F. 
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2.2 MANUFACTURERS 

A. Basis of Design: Kawneer. 
1. Equal systems (that meet the requirements of these specifications) by the following 

manufacturers shall also be acceptable: 
a. YKK 
b. EFCO 
c. Wausau 

B. Source Limitations: Obtain all components of aluminum-framed entrance and storefront system, 
including framing and accessories, from curtainwall system manufacturer.  

2.3 FRAMING 

A. Framing Members: Manufacturer's extruded- or formed-aluminum framing members of 
thickness required and reinforced as required to support imposed loads. 

1. Construction:  Thermally broken. 
2. Glazing System:  Retained mechanically with gaskets on four sides. 
3. Glazing Plane:  Center. 
4. Finish:  High-performance organic finish. 
5. Fabrication Method: Field-fabricated stick system. 

B. Backer Plates: Manufacturer's standard, continuous backer plates for framing members, if not 
integral, where framing abuts adjacent construction. 

C. Brackets and Reinforcements: Manufacturer's standard high-strength aluminum with 
nonstaining, nonferrous shims for aligning system components. 

D. Materials: 

1. Aluminum: Alloy and temper recommended by manufacturer for type of use and finish 
indicated. 

a. Sheet and Plate: ASTM B 209. 
b. Extruded Bars, Rods, Profiles, and Tubes: ASTM B 221. 
c. Extruded Structural Pipe and Tubes: ASTM B 429/B 429M. 
d. Structural Profiles: ASTM B 308/B 308M. 

2. Steel Reinforcement: Manufacturer's standard zinc-rich, corrosion-resistant primer 
complying with SSPC-PS Guide No. 12.00; applied immediately after surface preparation 
and pretreatment. Select surface preparation methods according to recommendations in 
SSPC-SP COM, and prepare surfaces according to applicable SSPC standard. 

a. Structural Shapes, Plates, and Bars: ASTM A 36/A 36M. 
b. Cold-Rolled Sheet and Strip: ASTM A 1008/A 1008M. 
c. Hot-Rolled Sheet and Strip: ASTM A 1011/A 1011M. 

2.4 GLAZING 

A. Glazing: Comply with Section 088000 "Glazing." 

http://www.specagent.com/LookUp/?ulid=9110&mf=04&src=wd
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B. Glazing Gaskets:  Manufacturer's standard sealed-corner pressure-glazing system of black, 
resilient elastomeric glazing gaskets, setting blocks, and shims or spacers. 

C. Glazing Sealants:  As recommended by manufacturer. 

D. Sealants used inside the weatherproofing system shall comply with the testing and product 
requirements of the California Department of Public Health's "Standard Method for the Testing 
and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using 
Environmental Chambers." 

2.5 ACCESSORIES 

A. Fasteners and Accessories: Manufacturer's standard corrosion-resistant, nonstaining, 
nonbleeding fasteners and accessories compatible with adjacent materials. 

1. Use self-locking devices where fasteners are subject to loosening or turning out from 
thermal and structural movements, wind loads, or vibration. 

2. Reinforce members as required to receive fastener threads. 
3. Use exposed fasteners with countersunk Phillips screw heads, finished to match framing 

system, fabricated from 300 series stainless steel. 

B. Anchors: Three-way adjustable anchors with minimum adjustment of 1 inch that accommodate 
fabrication and installation tolerances in material and finish compatible with adjoining materials 
and recommended by manufacturer. 

1. Concrete and Masonry Inserts: Hot-dip galvanized cast-iron, malleable-iron, or steel 
inserts complying with ASTM A 123/A 123M or ASTM A 153/A 153M requirements. 

C. Concealed Flashing:  Manufacturer's standard corrosion-resistant, nonstaining, nonbleeding 
flashing compatible with adjacent materials. 

D. Bituminous Paint: Cold-applied asphalt-mastic paint complying with SSPC-Paint 12 
requirements except containing no asbestos, formulated for 30-mil thickness per coat. 

2.6 FABRICATION 

A. Form or extrude aluminum shapes before finishing. 

B. Weld in concealed locations to greatest extent possible to minimize distortion or discoloration of 
finish. Remove weld spatter and welding oxides from exposed surfaces by descaling or 
grinding. 

C. Fabricate components that, when assembled, have the following characteristics: 

1. Profiles that are sharp, straight, and free of defects or deformations. 
2. Accurately fitted joints with ends coped or mitered. 
3. Physical and thermal isolation of glazing from framing members. 
4. Accommodations for thermal and mechanical movements of glazing and framing to 

maintain required glazing edge clearances. 
5. Provisions for field replacement of glazing from exterior. 
6. Fasteners, anchors, and connection devices that are concealed from view to greatest 

extent possible. 
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D. Mechanically Glazed Framing Members: Fabricate for flush glazing without projecting stops. 

E. Storefront Framing: Fabricate components for assembly using head-and-sill-receptor system 
with shear blocks at intermediate horizontal members. 

F. Entrance Door Frames: Reinforce as required to support loads imposed by door operation and 
for installing entrance door hardware. 

1. At exterior doors, provide compression weather stripping at fixed stops. 
2. At interior doors, provide silencers at stops to prevent metal-to-metal contact. Install three 

silencers on strike jamb of single-door frames and two silencers on head of frames for 
pairs of doors. 

G. Entrance Doors: Reinforce doors as required for installing entrance door hardware. 

1. At pairs of exterior doors, provide sliding-type weather stripping retained in adjustable 
strip and mortised into door edge. 

2. At exterior doors, provide weather sweeps applied to door bottoms. 

H. Entrance Door Hardware Installation: Factory install entrance door hardware to the greatest 
extent possible. Cut, drill, and tap for factory-installed entrance door hardware before applying 
finishes. 

I. After fabrication, clearly mark components to identify their locations in Project according to Shop 
Drawings. 

2.7 ALUMINUM FINISHES 

A. High-Performance Organic Finish: Two-coat fluoropolymer finish complying with AAMA 2605 
and containing not less than 70 percent PVDF resin by weight in color coat. Prepare, pretreat, 
and apply coating to exposed metal surfaces to comply with coating and resin manufacturers' 
written instructions. 

1. Color and Gloss:  As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full range. 

PART 3 - EXECUTION 

3.1 EXAMINATION 

A. Examine areas, with Installer present, for compliance with requirements for installation 
tolerances and other conditions affecting performance of the Work. 

B. Proceed with installation only after unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected. 

3.2 PREPARATION 

A. Prepare surfaces that are in contact with structural sealant according to sealant manufacturer's 
written instructions to ensure compatibility and adhesion. Preparation includes, but is not limited 
to, cleaning and priming surfaces. 
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3.3 INSTALLATION 

A. General: 

1. Comply with manufacturer's written instructions. 
2. Do not install damaged components. 
3. Fit joints to produce hairline joints free of burrs and distortion. 
4. Rigidly secure nonmovement joints. 
5. Install anchors with separators and isolators to prevent metal corrosion and electrolytic 

deterioration and to prevent impeding movement of moving joints. 
6. Seal perimeter and other joints watertight unless otherwise indicated. 

B. Metal Protection: 

1. Where aluminum is in contact with dissimilar metals, protect against galvanic action by 
painting contact surfaces with materials recommended by manufacturer for this purpose 
or by installing nonconductive spacers. 

2. Where aluminum is in contact with concrete or masonry, protect against corrosion by 
painting contact surfaces with bituminous paint. 

C. Set continuous sill members and flashing in full sealant bed as specified in Section 079200 
"Joint Sealants" to produce weathertight installation. 

D. Install components plumb and true in alignment with established lines and grades. 

E. Install operable units level and plumb, securely anchored, and without distortion. Adjust 
weather-stripping contact and hardware movement to produce proper operation. 

F. Install glazing as specified in Section 088000 "Glazing." 

G. Install weatherseal sealant according to Section 079200 "Joint Sealants" and according to 
sealant manufacturer's written instructions to produce weatherproof joints. Install joint filler 
behind sealant as recommended by sealant manufacturer. 

H. Entrance Doors: Install doors to produce smooth operation and tight fit at contact points. 

1. Exterior Doors: Install to produce weathertight enclosure and tight fit at weather stripping. 
2. Field-Installed Entrance Door Hardware: Install surface-mounted entrance door hardware 

according to entrance door hardware manufacturers' written instructions using concealed 
fasteners to greatest extent possible. 

3.4 ERECTION TOLERANCES 

A. Erection Tolerances: Install aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts to comply with the 
following maximum tolerances: 

1. Plumb: 1/8 inch in 10 feet; 1/4 inch in 40 feet. 
2. Level: 1/8 inch in 20 feet; 1/4 inch in 40 feet. 
3. Alignment: 

a. Where surfaces abut in line or are separated by reveal or protruding element up to 
1/2 inch wide, limit offset from true alignment to 1/16 inch. 
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b. Where surfaces are separated by reveal or protruding element from 1/2 to 1 inch 
wide, limit offset from true alignment to 1/8 inch. 

c. Where surfaces are separated by reveal or protruding element of 1 inch wide or 
more, limit offset from true alignment to 1/4 inch. 

4. Location: Limit variation from plane to 1/8 inch in 12 feet; 1/2 inch over total length. 

3.5 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL 

A. Testing Agency:  Engage a qualified testing agency to perform tests and inspections. 

B. Field Quality-Control Testing: Perform the following test on representative areas of aluminum-
framed entrances and storefronts. 

1. Water-Spray Test: Before installation of interior finishes has begun, areas designated by 
Architect shall be tested according to AAMA 501.2 and shall not evidence water 
penetration. 

a. Perform a minimum of three tests in areas as directed by Architect. 
b. Perform tests in each test area as directed by Architect. Perform at least three 

tests, prior to 70 percent completion. 

C. Aluminum-framed entrances and storefronts will be considered defective if they do not pass 
tests and inspections. 

D. Prepare test and inspection reports. 

END OF SECTION 084113 
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SECTION 088000 - GLAZING 

PART 1 - GENERAL 

1.1 RELATED DOCUMENTS 

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and Supplementary 
Conditions and Division 01 Specification Sections, apply to this Section. 

1.2 SUMMARY 

A. Section includes: 

1. Glass for windows, doors, interior borrowed lites, and storefront framing. 
2. Glazing sealants and accessories. 

1.3 DEFINITIONS 

A. Glass Manufacturers: Firms that produce primary glass, fabricated glass, or both, as defined in 
referenced glazing publications. 

B. Glass Thicknesses: Indicated by thickness designations in millimeters according to 
ASTM C 1036. 

C. IBC: International Building Code. 

D. Interspace: Space between lites of an insulating-glass unit. 

1.4 COORDINATION 

A. Coordinate glazing channel dimensions to provide necessary bite on glass, minimum edge and 
face clearances, and adequate sealant thicknesses, with reasonable tolerances. 

1.5 PREINSTALLATION MEETINGS 

A. Preinstallation Conference: Conduct conference at Project site. 

1. Review and finalize construction schedule and verify availability of materials, Installer's 
personnel, equipment, and facilities needed to make progress and avoid delays. 

2. Review temporary protection requirements for glazing during and after installation. 

1.6 ACTION SUBMITTALS 

A. Product Data: For each type of product. 
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B. Glass Samples: For each type of the following products; 12 inches square. 

1. Tinted glass. 
2. Coated glass. 
3. Laminated glass. 
4. Insulating glass. 

C. Glazing Accessory Samples: For sealants, in 12-inch lengths. 

D. Glazing Schedule: List glass types and thicknesses for each size opening and location. Use 
same designations indicated on Drawings. 

1.7 INFORMATIONAL SUBMITTALS 

A. Product Certificates: For glass. 

B. Product Test Reports: For tinted glass coated glass insulating glass and glazing sealants, for 
tests performed by a qualified testing agency. 

1. For glazing sealants, provide test reports based on testing current sealant formulations 
within previous 36-month period. 

C. Preconstruction adhesion and compatibility test report. 

D. Sample Warranties: For special warranties. 

1.8 QUALITY ASSURANCE 

A. Manufacturer Qualifications for Insulating-Glass Units with Sputter-Coated, Low-E Coatings: A 
qualified insulating-glass manufacturer who is approved by coated-glass manufacturer. 

B. Installer Qualifications: A qualified installer who employs glass installers for this Project who are 
certified under the National Glass Association's Certified Glass Installer Program. 

C. Glass Testing Agency Qualifications: A qualified independent testing agency accredited 
according to the NFRC CAP 1 Certification Agency Program. 

D. Sealant Testing Agency Qualifications: An independent testing agency qualified according to 
ASTM C 1021 to conduct the testing indicated. 

E. Mockups: Build mockups to demonstrate aesthetic effects and to set quality standards for 
materials and execution. 

1. Install glazing in mockups specified in Section 084113 "Aluminum-Framed Entrances and 
Storefronts" to match glazing systems required for Project, including glazing methods. 

2. Subject to compliance with requirements, approved mockups may become part of the 
completed Work if undisturbed at time of Substantial Completion. 
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1.9 PRECONSTRUCTION TESTING 

A. Preconstruction Adhesion and Compatibility Testing: Test each glass product, tape sealant, 
gasket, glazing accessory, and glass-framing member for adhesion to and compatibility with 
elastomeric glazing sealants. 

1. Testing is not required if data are submitted based on previous testing of current sealant 
products and glazing materials matching those submitted. 

2. Use ASTM C 1087 to determine whether priming and other specific joint-preparation 
techniques are required to obtain rapid, optimum adhesion of glazing sealants to glass, 
tape sealants, gaskets, and glazing channel substrates. 

3. Test no fewer than eight Samples of each type of material, including joint substrates, 
shims, sealant backings, secondary seals, and miscellaneous materials. 

4. Schedule enough time for testing and analyzing results to prevent delaying the Work. 
5. For materials failing tests, submit sealant manufacturer's written instructions for corrective 

measures including the use of specially formulated primers. 

1.10 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING 

A. Protect glazing materials according to manufacturer's written instructions. Prevent damage to 
glass and glazing materials from condensation, temperature changes, direct exposure to sun, or 
other causes. 

B. Comply with insulating-glass manufacturer's written instructions for venting and sealing units to 
avoid hermetic seal ruptures due to altitude change. 

1.11 FIELD CONDITIONS 

A. Environmental Limitations: Do not proceed with glazing when ambient and substrate 
temperature conditions are outside limits permitted by glazing material manufacturers and when 
glazing channel substrates are wet from rain, frost, condensation, or other causes. 

1. Do not install glazing sealants when ambient and substrate temperature conditions are 
outside limits permitted by sealant manufacturer or are below 40 deg F. 

1.12 WARRANTY 

A. Manufacturer's Special Warranty for Coated-Glass Products: Manufacturer agrees to replace 
coated-glass units that deteriorate within specified warranty period. Deterioration of coated 
glass is defined as defects developed from normal use that are not attributed to glass breakage 
or to maintaining and cleaning coated glass contrary to manufacturer's written instructions. 
Defects include peeling, cracking, and other indications of deterioration in coating. 

1. Warranty Period:  10 years from date of Substantial Completion. 

B. Manufacturer's Special Warranty for Laminated Glass: Manufacturer agrees to replace 
laminated-glass units that deteriorate within specified warranty period. Deterioration of 
laminated glass is defined as defects developed from normal use that are not attributed to glass 
breakage or to maintaining and cleaning laminated glass contrary to manufacturer's written 
instructions. Defects include edge separation, delamination materially obstructing vision through 
glass, and blemishes exceeding those allowed by referenced laminated-glass standard. 
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1. Warranty Period:  Five years from date of Substantial Completion. 

C. Manufacturer's Special Warranty for Insulating Glass: Manufacturer agrees to replace 
insulating-glass units that deteriorate within specified warranty period. Deterioration of insulating 
glass is defined as failure of hermetic seal under normal use that is not attributed to glass 
breakage or to maintaining and cleaning insulating glass contrary to manufacturer's written 
instructions. Evidence of failure is the obstruction of vision by dust, moisture, or film on interior 
surfaces of glass. 

1. Warranty Period:  10 years from date of Substantial Completion. 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS 

2.1 MANUFACTURERS 

A. Source Limitations for Glass: Obtain from single source from single manufacturer for each glass 
type. 

1. Obtain tinted glass from single source from single manufacturer. 
2. Obtain reflective-coated glass from single source from single manufacturer. 

B. Source Limitations for Glazing Accessories: Obtain from single source from single manufacturer 
for each product and installation method. 

C. Basis of Design: Solarban 60 

2.2 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

A. General: Installed glazing systems shall withstand normal thermal movement and wind and 
impact loads (where applicable) without failure, including loss or glass breakage attributable to 
the following: defective manufacture, fabrication, or installation; failure of sealants or gaskets to 
remain watertight and airtight; deterioration of glazing materials; or other defects in construction. 

B. Structural Performance: Glazing shall withstand the following design loads within limits and 
under conditions indicated determined according to the IBC and ASTM E 1300. 

1. Design Wind Pressures: Determine design wind pressures applicable to Project 
according to ASCE/SEI 7, based on heights above grade indicated on Drawings. 

a. Wind Design Data: As indicated on Drawings. 
b. Basic Wind Speed:  110 mph. 
c. Importance Factor:  1.0. 

2. Design Snow Loads:  As indicated on Drawings. 
3. Thickness of Patterned Glass: Base design of patterned glass on thickness at thinnest 

part of the glass. 
4. Maximum Lateral Deflection: For glass supported on all four edges, limit center-of-glass 

deflection at design wind pressure to not more than 1/50 times the short-side length or 1 
inch, whichever is less. 

5. Differential Shading: Design glass to resist thermal stresses induced by differential 
shading within individual glass lites. 
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C. Safety Glazing: Where safety glazing is indicated, provide glazing that complies with 
16 CFR 1201, Category II. 

D. Thermal and Optical Performance Properties: Provide glass with performance properties 
specified, as indicated in manufacturer's published test data, based on procedures indicated 
below: 

1. For monolithic-glass lites, properties are based on units with lites 6 mm thick. 
2. For laminated-glass lites, properties are based on products of construction indicated. 
3. For insulating-glass units, properties are based on units of thickness indicated for overall 

unit and for each lite. 
4. U-Factors: Center-of-glazing values, according to NFRC 100 and based on LBL's 

WINDOW 5.2 computer program, expressed as Btu/sq. ft. x h x deg F. 
5. Solar Heat-Gain Coefficient and Visible Transmittance: Center-of-glazing values, 

according to NFRC 200 and based on LBL's WINDOW 5.2 computer program. 
6. Visible Reflectance: Center-of-glazing values, according to NFRC 300. 

2.3 GLASS PRODUCTS, GENERAL 

A. Glazing Publications: Comply with published recommendations of glass product manufacturers 
and organizations below unless more stringent requirements are indicated. See these 
publications for glazing terms not otherwise defined in this Section or in referenced standards. 

1. GANA Publications:  "Laminated Glazing Reference Manual" and "Glazing Manual." 
2. AAMA Publications: AAMA GDSG-1, "Glass Design for Sloped Glazing," and 

AAMA TIR A7, "Sloped Glazing Guidelines." 
3. IGMA Publication for Sloped Glazing: IGMA TB-3001, "Guidelines for Sloped Glazing." 
4. IGMA Publication for Insulating Glass: SIGMA TM-3000, "North American Glazing 

Guidelines for Sealed Insulating Glass Units for Commercial and Residential Use." 

B. Safety Glazing Labeling: Where safety glazing is indicated, permanently mark glazing with 
certification label of the SGCC or another certification agency acceptable to authorities having 
jurisdiction or manufacturer. Label shall indicate manufacturer's name, type of glass, thickness, 
and safety glazing standard with which glass complies. 

C. Insulating-Glass Certification Program: Permanently marked either on spacers or on at least 
one component lite of units with appropriate certification label of IGCC. 

D. Thickness: Where glass thickness is indicated, it is a minimum. Provide glass that complies with 
performance requirements and is not less than the thickness indicated. 

1. Minimum Glass Thickness for Exterior Lites:  6 mm. 
2. Thickness of Tinted Glass: Provide same thickness for each tint color indicated 

throughout Project. 

E. Strength: Where annealed float glass is indicated, provide annealed float glass, heat-
strengthened float glass, or fully tempered float glass as needed to comply with "Performance 
Requirements" Article. Where heat-strengthened float glass is indicated, provide heat-
strengthened float glass or fully tempered float glass as needed to comply with "Performance 
Requirements" Article. Where fully tempered float glass is indicated, provide fully tempered float 
glass. 
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2.4 GLASS PRODUCTS 

A. Clear Annealed Float Glass: ASTM C 1036, Type I, Class 1 (clear), Quality-Q3. 

B. Tinted Annealed Float Glass: ASTM C 1036, Type I, Class 2 (tinted), Quality-Q3. 

C. Fully Tempered Float Glass: ASTM C 1048, Kind FT (fully tempered), Condition A (uncoated) 
unless otherwise indicated, Type I, Class 1 (clear) or Class 2 (tinted) as indicated, Quality-Q3. 

1. Fabrication Process: By horizontal (roller-hearth) process with roll-wave distortion parallel 
to bottom edge of glass as installed unless otherwise indicated. 

D. Heat-Strengthened Float Glass: ASTM C 1048, Kind HS (heat strengthened), Type I, 
Condition A (uncoated) unless otherwise indicated, Type I, Class 1 (clear) or Class 2 (tinted) as 
indicated, Quality-Q3. 

1. Fabrication Process: By horizontal (roller-hearth) process with roll-wave distortion parallel 
to bottom edge of glass as installed unless otherwise indicated. 

2.5 LAMINATED GLASS 

A. Laminated Glass: ASTM C 1172. Use materials that have a proven record of no tendency to 
bubble, discolor, or lose physical and mechanical properties after fabrication and installation. 

1. Construction: Laminate glass with polyvinyl butyral interlayer ionomeric polymer interlayer 
or cast-in-place and cured-transparent-resin interlayer to comply with interlayer 
manufacturer's written instructions. 

2. Interlayer Thickness: Provide thickness not less than that indicated and as needed to 
comply with requirements. 

3. Interlayer Color: Clear unless otherwise indicated. 

2.6 INSULATING GLASS 

A. Insulating-Glass Units: Factory-assembled units consisting of sealed lites of glass separated by 
a dehydrated interspace, qualified according to ASTM E 2190. 

1. Sealing System: Dual seal, with manufacturer's standard primary and secondary 
sealants. 

2. Spacer:  Aluminum with mill or clear anodic finish. 
3. Desiccant: Molecular sieve or silica gel, or a blend of both. 

2.7 GLAZING SEALANTS 

A. General: 

1. Compatibility: Compatible with one another and with other materials they contact, 
including glass products, seals of insulating-glass units, and glazing channel substrates, 
under conditions of service and application, as demonstrated by sealant manufacturer 
based on testing and field experience. 
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2. Suitability: Comply with sealant and glass manufacturers' written instructions for selecting 
glazing sealants suitable for applications indicated and for conditions existing at time of 
installation. 

3. Field-applied sealants shall have a VOC content of not more than 250 g/L. 
4. Sealants shall comply with the testing and product requirements of the California 

Department of Public Health's (formerly, the California Department of Health Services') 
"Standard Method for the Testing and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions 
from Indoor Sources Using Environmental Chambers." 

5. Colors of Exposed Glazing Sealants:  As selected by Architect from manufacturer's full 
range. 

B. Glazing Sealant: Neutral-curing silicone glazing sealant complying with ASTM C 920, Type S, 
Grade NS, Class 100/50, Use NT. 

C. Glazing Sealant: Neutral-curing silicone glazing sealant complying with ASTM C 920, Type S, 
Grade NS, Class 50, Use NT. 

D. Glazing Sealant: Neutral-curing silicone glazing sealant complying with ASTM C 920, Type S, 
Grade NS, Class 25, Use NT. 

2.8 GLAZING TAPES 

A. Back-Bedding Mastic Glazing Tapes: Preformed, butyl-based, 100 percent solids elastomeric 
tape; nonstaining and nonmigrating in contact with nonporous surfaces; with or without spacer 
rod as recommended in writing by tape and glass manufacturers for application indicated; and 
complying with ASTM C 1281 and AAMA 800 for products indicated below: 

1. AAMA 804.3 tape, where indicated. 
2. AAMA 806.3 tape, for glazing applications in which tape is subject to continuous 

pressure. 
3. AAMA 807.3 tape, for glazing applications in which tape is not subject to continuous 

pressure. 

B. Expanded Cellular Glazing Tapes: Closed-cell, PVC foam tapes; factory coated with adhesive 
on both surfaces; and complying with AAMA 800 for the following types: 

1. AAMA 810.1, Type 1, for glazing applications in which tape acts as the primary sealant. 
2. AAMA 810.1, Type 2, for glazing applications in which tape is used in combination with a 

full bead of liquid sealant. 

2.9 MISCELLANEOUS GLAZING MATERIALS 

A. General: Provide products of material, size, and shape complying with referenced glazing 
standard, with requirements of manufacturers of glass and other glazing materials for 
application indicated, and with a proven record of compatibility with surfaces contacted in 
installation. 

B. Cleaners, Primers, and Sealers: Types recommended by sealant or gasket manufacturer. 

C. Setting Blocks: Elastomeric material with a Shore, Type A durometer hardness of 85, plus or 
minus 5. 
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D. Spacers: Elastomeric blocks or continuous extrusions of hardness required by glass 
manufacturer to maintain glass lites in place for installation indicated. 

E. Edge Blocks: Elastomeric material of hardness needed to limit glass lateral movement (side 
walking). 

F. Cylindrical Glazing Sealant Backing: ASTM C 1330, Type O (open-cell material), of size and 
density to control glazing sealant depth and otherwise produce optimum glazing sealant 
performance. 

2.10 FABRICATION OF GLAZING UNITS 

A. Fabricate glazing units in sizes required to fit openings indicated for Project, with edge and face 
clearances, edge and surface conditions, and bite complying with written instructions of product 
manufacturer and referenced glazing publications, to comply with system performance 
requirements. 

1. Allow for thermal movements from ambient and surface temperature changes acting on 
glass framing members and glazing components. 

a. Temperature Change:  120 deg F, ambient; 180 deg F, material surfaces. 

B. Clean-cut or flat-grind vertical edges of butt-glazed monolithic lites to produce square edges 
with slight chamfers at junctions of edges and faces. 

C. Grind smooth and polish exposed glass edges and corners. 

PART 3 - EXECUTION 

3.1 EXAMINATION 

A. Examine framing, glazing channels, and stops, with Installer present, for compliance with the 
following: 

1. Manufacturing and installation tolerances, including those for size, squareness, and 
offsets at corners. 

2. Presence and functioning of weep systems. 
3. Minimum required face and edge clearances. 
4. Effective sealing between joints of glass-framing members. 

B. Proceed with installation only after unsatisfactory conditions have been corrected. 

3.2 PREPARATION 

A. Clean glazing channels and other framing members receiving glass immediately before glazing. 
Remove coatings not firmly bonded to substrates. 

B. Examine glazing units to locate exterior and interior surfaces. Label or mark units as needed so 
that exterior and interior surfaces are readily identifiable. Do not use materials that leave visible 
marks in the completed Work. 
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3.3 GLAZING, GENERAL 

A. Comply with combined written instructions of manufacturers of glass, sealants, gaskets, and 
other glazing materials, unless more stringent requirements are indicated, including those in 
referenced glazing publications. 

B. Protect glass edges from damage during handling and installation. Remove damaged glass 
from Project site and legally dispose of off Project site. Damaged glass includes glass with edge 
damage or other imperfections that, when installed, could weaken glass, impair performance, or 
impair appearance. 

C. Apply primers to joint surfaces where required for adhesion of sealants, as determined by 
preconstruction testing. 

D. Install setting blocks in sill rabbets, sized and located to comply with referenced glazing 
publications, unless otherwise required by glass manufacturer. Set blocks in thin course of 
compatible sealant suitable for heel bead. 

E. Do not exceed edge pressures stipulated by glass manufacturers for installing glass lites. 

F. Provide spacers for glass lites where length plus width is larger than 50 inches. 

1. Locate spacers directly opposite each other on both inside and outside faces of glass. 
Install correct size and spacing to preserve required face clearances, unless gaskets and 
glazing tapes are used that have demonstrated ability to maintain required face 
clearances and to comply with system performance requirements. 

2. Provide 1/8-inch minimum bite of spacers on glass and use thickness equal to sealant 
width. With glazing tape, use thickness slightly less than final compressed thickness of 
tape. 

G. Provide edge blocking where indicated or needed to prevent glass lites from moving sideways 
in glazing channel, as recommended in writing by glass manufacturer and according to 
requirements in referenced glazing publications. 

H. Set glass lites in each series with uniform pattern, draw, bow, and similar characteristics. 

I. Set glass lites with proper orientation so that coatings face exterior or interior as specified. 

J. Where wedge-shaped gaskets are driven into one side of channel to pressurize sealant or 
gasket on opposite side, provide adequate anchorage so gasket cannot walk out when 
installation is subjected to movement. 

K. Square cut wedge-shaped gaskets at corners and install gaskets in a manner recommended by 
gasket manufacturer to prevent corners from pulling away; seal corner joints and butt joints with 
sealant recommended by gasket manufacturer. 

3.4 TAPE GLAZING 

A. Position tapes on fixed stops so that, when compressed by glass, their exposed edges are flush 
with or protrude slightly above sightline of stops. 

B. Install tapes continuously, but not necessarily in one continuous length. Do not stretch tapes to 
make them fit opening. 
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C. Cover vertical framing joints by applying tapes to heads and sills first, then to jambs. Cover 
horizontal framing joints by applying tapes to jambs, then to heads and sills. 

D. Place joints in tapes at corners of opening with adjoining lengths butted together, not lapped. 
Seal joints in tapes with compatible sealant approved by tape manufacturer. 

E. Do not remove release paper from tape until right before each glazing unit is installed. 

F. Apply heel bead of elastomeric sealant. 

G. Center glass lites in openings on setting blocks, and press firmly against tape by inserting 
dense compression gaskets formed and installed to lock in place against faces of removable 
stops. Start gasket applications at corners and work toward centers of openings. 

H. Apply cap bead of elastomeric sealant over exposed edge of tape. 

3.5 GASKET GLAZING (DRY) 

A. Cut compression gaskets to lengths recommended by gasket manufacturer to fit openings 
exactly, with allowance for stretch during installation. 

B. Insert soft compression gasket between glass and frame or fixed stop so it is securely in place 
with joints miter cut and bonded together at corners. 

C. Installation with Drive-in Wedge Gaskets: Center glass lites in openings on setting blocks, and 
press firmly against soft compression gasket by inserting dense compression gaskets formed 
and installed to lock in place against faces of removable stops. Start gasket applications at 
corners and work toward centers of openings. Compress gaskets to produce a weathertight seal 
without developing bending stresses in glass. Seal gasket joints with sealant recommended by 
gasket manufacturer. 

D. Installation with Pressure-Glazing Stops: Center glass lites in openings on setting blocks, and 
press firmly against soft compression gasket. Install dense compression gaskets and pressure-
glazing stops, applying pressure uniformly to compression gaskets. Compress gaskets to 
produce a weathertight seal without developing bending stresses in glass. Seal gasket joints 
with sealant recommended by gasket manufacturer. 

E. Install gaskets so they protrude past face of glazing stops. 

3.6 SEALANT GLAZING (WET) 

A. Install continuous spacers, or spacers combined with cylindrical sealant backing, between glass 
lites and glazing stops to maintain glass face clearances and to prevent sealant from extruding 
into glass channel and blocking weep systems until sealants cure. Secure spacers or spacers 
and backings in place and in position to control depth of installed sealant relative to edge 
clearance for optimum sealant performance. 

B. Force sealants into glazing channels to eliminate voids and to ensure complete wetting or bond 
of sealant to glass and channel surfaces. 

C. Tool exposed surfaces of sealants to provide a substantial wash away from glass. 
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3.7 CLEANING AND PROTECTION 

A. Immediately after installation remove nonpermanent labels and clean surfaces. 

B. Protect glass from contact with contaminating substances resulting from construction 
operations. Examine glass surfaces adjacent to or below exterior concrete and other masonry 
surfaces at frequent intervals during construction, but not less than once a month, for buildup of 
dirt, scum, alkaline deposits, or stains. 

1. If, despite such protection, contaminating substances do come into contact with glass, 
remove substances immediately as recommended in writing by glass manufacturer. 
Remove and replace glass that cannot be cleaned without damage to coatings. 

C. Remove and replace glass that is damaged during construction period. 

D. Wash glass on both exposed surfaces not more than four days before date scheduled for 
inspections that establish date of Substantial Completion. Wash glass as recommended in 
writing by glass manufacturer. 

3.8 MONOLITHIC GLASS SCHEDULE 

A. Glass Type : Clear fully tempered float glass. 

1. Minimum Thickness:  6 mm. 
2. Safety glazing required. 

B. Glass Type: Tinted fully tempered float glass. 
1. Tint Color: Clear 
2. Minimum Thickness: [6 mm]  

3.9 LAMINATED GLASS SCHEDULE 

A. Glass Type : Clear laminated glass with two plies of fully tempered float glass. 

1. Minimum Thickness of Each Glass Ply:  3 mm. 
2. Interlayer Thickness:  0.060 inch. 
3. Safety glazing required. 

3.10 INSULATING GLASS SCHEDULE 

A. Glass Type : Low-E-coated, tinted insulating glass. 

1. Basis-of-Design Product: Solarban-60: Low E coating on 2nd or 3rd surface. 
2. Overall Unit Thickness:  1 inch. 
3. Minimum Thickness of Each Glass Lite:  6 mm. 
4. Outdoor Lite: Fully tempered float glass. 
5. Tint Color:  Clear. 
6. Interspace Content:  Air. 
7. Indoor Lite: Clear fully tempered float glass. 
8. Low-E Coating:  Pyrolytic or sputtered on second or third surface. 
9. Winter Nighttime U-Factor:  0.29 maximum. 
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10. Summer Daytime U-Factor: 0.28 maximum. 
11. Visible Light Transmittance: 30 percent maximum in Commons Rooms. 40 percent 

minimum in all other areas. 
12. Solar Heat Gain Coefficient: 0.26 maximum. 
13. Safety glazing required. 

END OF SECTION 088000 




